

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2023

Treponema denticola synthesizes c-di-AMP and encodes the CdaA-type diadenylate cyclase CdaA

Claire R. O'Brien Virginia Commonwealth University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd

Part of the Bacteriology Commons, Biochemistry Commons, and the Microbial Physiology Commons

© The Author

Downloaded from

https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/7375

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

© Claire O'Brien 2023

All Rights Reserved

Treponema denticola synthesizes c-di-AMP and encodes the CdaA-type diadenylate cyclase CdaA

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science at Virginia Commonwealth University

By Claire Rose O'Brien

Bachelor of Arts with Honors, Microbiology, TCD, 2021

Director: Daniel P. Miller, PhD.

Department of Microbiology and Immunology

Philips Institute for Oral Health Research

Virginia Commonwealth University

Richmond, VA

April, 2023

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Daniel Miller, for guiding me through completing my Master of Science. Your ability to identify the potential of a research question, the way you can effectively communicate both theory and practice, and your unending commitment to furthering scientific knowledge and questioning the ways in which the world works at the smallest level have been inspiring to me.

I would like to thank my committee members Dr. Richard Marconi and Dr. Michael McVoy.

My fellow Miller lab members, Annie Hinson, Colin Hawkes, Aidan Moylan, and Doaa Abdallah I would like to thank for their constant commitment to make research collaborative and for their guidance and assistance during my research.

I would like to thank the Marconi lab, and in particular Dhara Patel, for their immense help in performing on their machinery the FPLC, HPLC, and SEC techniques which generated data presented here.

Lastly, I would like to thank my family and friends who have come on this journey with me and supported me every step of the way. I feel deeply grateful to have such help in every facet of my life, and am honored by it at the same time.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	6
List of Figures	7
List of abbreviations	8
Abstract	.11
Chapter 1: Introduction	.13
1.1 <i>T. denticola</i> background	.14
 1.1.1 Classification 1.1.2 Morphology and genomics 1.1.3 Niche	. 14 . 14 . 15 . 17 17
1.2.1 Incidence	. 17
1.2.2 Clinical manifestations	. 18
1.2.3 Association with other diseases 1.2.4 Diagnosis, treatment, prevention	. 19
1.3 c-di-AMP	.21
1.3.1 Discovery 1.3.2 Structure 1.3.3 Biological role 1.4 c-di-AMP binding partners	. 21 . 21 . 22 . 24
1.4.1 DisA and DNA repair	
1.4.2 Potassium transporters	. 25
1.4.3 Biofilm formation 1.4.4 Polysaccharide and cell wall biosynthesis	. 26
1.4.5 Control of carbon cycle metabolism	. 28
1.4.6 Riboswitches	. 28
1.5 Diadenyiate cyclases	.29
 1.5.1 Categories 1.5.2 Structure and function of CdaA-type diadenylate cyclases and their regulatory partner CdaR 1.5.3 Regulation, activation, and inhibition	. 29 1 30 . 32
	.32
1.6.1 c-di-AMP regulation of virulence 1.6.2 c-di-AMP interactions with host cells	. 32
1.7 Research objective	.34
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	.35
, 2.1 Cultivation of <i>T. denticola</i> strains	.36
2.2 Cultivation of <i>E</i> . coli transformants	
2.3 Reagents	.36
2.4 PCR, plasmid constructs, and sequencing	.37
2.5 Protein sample preparation	.39

2.6 Coomassie brilliant blue staining	39
2.7 Bicinchoninic acid assay	40
2.8 c-di-AMP ELISA	40
2.9 Purification of recombinant protein	41
2.10 High performance liquid chromatography	43
2.11 Sequence alignment and distance matrix generation	43
2.12 Colony picking and <i>Td</i> strain analysis	44
2.13 Statistical analysis	44
Chapter 3: Results	45
3.1 <i>T. denticola</i> makes c-di-AMP in broth culture	46
3.2 The <i>T. denticola</i> protein CdaA is a diadenylate cyclase capable of synthesizing AMP from ATP <i>in vitro</i>	c-di- 46
3.3 CdaR does not increase the diadenylate cyclase activity of CdaA in buffer	48
3.4 CdaA ⁺ <i>E. coli</i> cultures show c-di-AMP formation, especially when simultaneous expressing CdaR	sly 48
3.5 The CdaA sequence is highly conserved between treponemes, especially at the diadenylate cyclase domain	e 48
3.6 Other <i>T. denticola</i> strains have CdaA encoded in their genomes	52
Chapter 4: Conclusions and Future Directions	55
4.1 Discussion	56
 4.1.1 <i>Td</i> synthesizes c-di-AMP, raising questions about its role	56 58 59 s 60 61
4.3 Future directions	62
Literature Cited	63

List of Tables

1)	Table 1.		
----	----------	--	--

List of Figures

1)	Figure 1.	.16
2)	Figure 2.	.23
3)	Figure 3.	.31
4)	Figure 4	.47
5)	Figure 5	.49
6)	Figure 6	.50
7)	Figure 7	.51
8)	Figure 8	.53
9)	Figure 9.	.54

List of Abbreviations

°C	Degrees Celsius
ANOVA	One-way analysis of variance
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
B-PER	Bacterial protein extraction reagent
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BLAST	Basic local alignment search tool
BCG	Bacille Calmette-Guerin
c-di-AMP	3',5'-cyclic di-adenosine monophosphate
c-di-GMP	3',5'-cyclic di-guanosine monophosphate
CdaA	Cyclic-di-AMP synthase A
CdaM	Cyclic-di-AMP mycoplasma
CdaR	Cyclic-di-AMP synthase regulator
CdaS	Sporulation-specific cyclic-di-AMP synthase
CdaZ	Cyclic-di-AMP synthase in archaea
cGAS	Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase
CC	Coiled-coil
СМ	Cellular membrane
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
DAC	Diadenylate cyclase
DisA	DNA integrity scanning protein A
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid

EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EPS	Extracellular polysaccharide
FPLC	Fast performance liquid chromatography
g	Relative centrifugal force
g	Gram(s)
h	Hour(s)
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
IFN-β	Interferon-β
IPTG	Isopropyl β -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside
kDa	Kilodalton
Mbp	Million base pairs
MEGA	Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis
mg	Milligram(s)
min	Minutes(s)
mL	Milliliter(s)
mM	Millimolar
MSP	Major outer sheath protein
NaCl	Sodium Chloride
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
ng	Nanogram(s)
ОН	Hydroxide

ORF	Open reading frame
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
SD	Standard deviation
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
Sec	Second(s)
SEM	Standard error of the mean
STING	Stimulator of interferon genes
TAE	Tris acetate EDTA buffer
TBS	Tris buffered saline
Td	Treponema denticola
TLR	Toll-like receptor
ТМ	Transmembrane
V	Volts
μg	Microgram
μL	Microliter
μm	Micrometer
μM	Micromolar

Abstract

Treponema denticola synthesizes c-di-AMP and encodes the CdaA-type diadenylate

cyclase CdaA

By Claire Rose O'Brien

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science at Virginia Commonwealth University Virginia Commonwealth University, 2023 Major Advisor: Daniel P. Miller, PhD. Department of Microbiology and Immunology Philips Institute for Oral Health Research

Periodontitis is a form of oral disease characterized by dysbiosis of the oral microbiome, leading to inflammation, bone resorption, and in severe cases, entire tooth loss, affecting 42% of adults in the US. One of the bacteria most associated with periodontal disease progression is *Treponema denticola* (*Td*), an oral spirochete which inhabits the mouth in small quantities during health but which can dominate the biofilms that form during periodontal disease. The ability of *Td* to survive in a disease environment and contribute to the progression of disease requires the use of robust signaling networks. Analysis of *Td* cultures revealed the existence of a potential regulatory signaling network in *Td*, one using the nucleotide-based second messenger molecule cyclic-di-AMP (c-di-AMP), and further allowed for characterizing a diadenylate cyclase enzyme responsible for its synthesis in *Td*, along with a potential regulator of diadenylate cyclase activity. This enzyme was shown to be encoded in the genomes of a variety of

Td strains and other species of treponemes. This opens for study a wide range of signaling pathways and responses which may be based on c-di-AMP, which is capable of regulating growth, physiology, and virulence. These data help provide, for the first time, evidence for the existence of c-di-AMP in *Td*, and presents a new set of targets for treatment of *Td* infection.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Treponema denticola background

1.1.1 Classification

Treponema denticola is an exclusively anaerobic Gram-negative oral bacterium. It is a member of the Spirochaetes, a bacterial phylum characterized by a helical shape and the presence of endoflagella which are located within the periplasm¹ which grant the bacteria a unique form of motility which is enhanced compared to other bacteria in highly viscous environments² and which are thought to aid in tissue penetration during oral infection³. The genera of Spirochaetes include *Leptospira*, the causative agents of leptospirosis⁴, *Borrelia*, which includes the etiologic agents of different forms of relapsing fever, e.g., *B. recurrentis* in the case of epidemic relapsing fever and *B. hermsii* as one bacterium implicated in tick-borne relapsing fever⁵, *Borreliella*, which includes the etiologic agent of Lyme disease, *B. burgdorferi*⁵ and *Treponema*, which includes the etiologic agent of syphilis, *T. pallidum*⁶, as well as the oral treponeme *T. denticola*⁷ As an oral treponeme, *T. denticola* is associated with different forms of oral disease, along with other species of oral treponeme like T. socranskii⁸, T. *lecithinolyticum*, *T. medium*, and *T. maltophilum*⁹ but especially with periodontitis, the inflammation of the space where the epithelial cells of the gum meet the tooth, the periodontium¹⁰.

1.1.2 Morphology and genomics

T. denticola is motile, using its periplasmic endoflagella for motility³, spiralshaped¹¹ (Figure 1), and relatively small compared to other spirochetes, ranging

between 6-16 μ m in length and 0.1 μ m to 0.25 μ m in width¹². The genome of the *T*. *denticola* type strain (ATCC 35405) is 2.8 Mbp in size, with a G+C content of 37.9% and 2786 genes identified as protein-coding, including multiple proteases which are important to its ability to degrade host tissue and fulfill its nutritional requirements¹³.

Also important to note is the intractability of *T. denticola* to genetic manipulation. Already quite fastidious, attempts to construct mutants of *Td* often meet with failure, either through electroporating the cells or making them chemically competent for heat shock transformation, though both have generated notable mutants in the past¹⁴.

1.1.3 Niche

T. denticola inhabits the oral biofilm which develops where the surface of the tooth meets the gums⁸. The bacterium is present at low levels during oral health, but increased in abundance during oral disease such as periodontitis 8' as it associates with and binds to other periopathogens like *F. nucleatum* and *P. gingivalis* through the expression of its primary surface protein, major outer sheath protein (MSP)¹⁵. It has also been shown to reside within the epithelial cells of individuals with the disease most commonly associated with *T. denticola*, inflammation of the periodontium, or periodontitis¹⁶.



Figure 1. Electron microscope images of *T. denticola*. A) Transmission electron microscopy, with arrows highlighting bundles of endoflagella. B) Scanning electron microscopy of *T. denticola*. Adapted from Frederick *et al.*, 2011¹¹. Molecular signaling mechanisms of the periopathogen, *Treponema denticola*. *J Dent Res*. 2011;90(10):1155-1163. Republished with permission from SAGE Journals.

1.1.4 Virulence and infection

Td plays a role in furthering the development of periodontal disease by adhering to fibroblasts and epithelial cells of the periodontium and extracellular matrix components, expression of surface proteins including peptidases, proteinases, and pore-forming proteins¹⁰, and interacting with other oral pathogens to enhance overall virulence¹⁷. The unique protease complex dentilisin has been studied for its role as a virulence factor, and is suggested to allow enhanced tissue penetration, modulation of host cell responses by degrading certain immune factors, and interacting with P. gingivalis fimbriae to support infection¹⁸. Invasion of host tissues and cells¹⁶ supports disease, and is likely aided by the unique motility of spirochetes³. The ability of *Td* to stimulate host inflammation by binding Toll-like receptors TLR2 and TLR4 has been identified¹⁹. Td additionally has a unique profile of antimicrobial susceptibility, showing consistent resistance to fluoroquinolones and susceptibility to the macrolides azithromycin and erythromycin as well as the tetracyclines doxycycline and minocycline²⁰. This variety of factors and behaviors are part of the reason Td is heavily implicated in the progression of periodontitis.

1.2 Periodontitis

1.2.1 Incidence

Periodontitis is a global noncommunicable disease which represents a massive burden on the world population, with severe periodontitis being found in 11.2% of individuals worldwide and mild to moderate periodontitis affecting a majority of adults

worldwide²¹. It shows a variable incidence by age, peaking at around 38 years old before declining with increasing age²¹. Counting all types of periodontitis, one recent study found that 42% of US adults had periodontitis ranging from mild to severe²², showing the significant burden which this disease represents for health in the United States.

1.2.2 Clinical manifestations

Periodontitis has been categorized into separate forms, aggressive periodontitis and chronic periodontitis, which primarily differ based on the speed at which the disease occurs, but other differences such as the relationship to systemic disease and association with microbial burden are apparent between the two forms²³. Both forms are associated with the same major symptoms – inflammation of the gums, formation of hard plaques and calculus at the tooth surface, formation of deep gum pockets in which biofilms form, and alveolar bone resorption which is capable of causing complete tooth loss²³. This is caused by a combination of factors from the microbes present in the plaques as well as their interactions with the host and the resulting responses by the host epithelium, including the expression and secretion of inflammatory cytokines and recruitment of inflammatory immune cells to the periodontium^{24,25,26}, as reviewed by Darveau in 2010²⁷. These symptoms are driven by a shift in the makeup of the oral microbiome from saccharolytic, aerobic, Gram-positive bacteria to an increased proportion of proteolytic, anaerobic, Gram-negative bacteria²⁸. Previously, researchers identified certain bacteria like T. denticola, T. forsythia, and P. gingivalis as being the main drivers of periodontitis and termed them the "red-complex" of bacteria²⁹, but more

recent work has identified the ability of a vastly increased profile of species to act as pathobionts or opportunistic pathogens in periodontitis, whose virulence and adverse health effects can increase or be activated during the progression of disease by so-called "keystone pathogens" which can even at low abundance have a community-wide impact on the microbiome and begin modulating host responses towards inflammation^{30,31}, presenting a new model of understanding how periodontitis arises from host interactions with the microbiome.

1.2.3 Association with other diseases

Periodontitis is associated with numerous other systemic noncommunicable diseases. It has been found to be significantly associated with cardiovascular disease³², to increase the mortality of kidney disease sufferers³³, and to be a risk factor for diabetes and diabetes complications³⁴. It has even been found to be a risk factor for oral cancer³⁵, as invasion of host tissues by bacteria cause irregular cell cycle behavior in host cells, and driver mutations for oral cancer cause the microbiome shift characteristic of periodontitis to occur. Associations with other systemic diseases occur for a variety of potential reasons, such as the increased risk of bacteremia in periodontitis patients³⁶, and the induction of inflammation in the heart through the production of inflammatory cytokines³⁷ in response to periodontal pathogens.

1.2.4 Diagnosis, treatment, and prevention

The primary methods for diagnosis involve the calculation of probing depths, the distance a clinician can insert a tool into the space between the tooth and gum, the

presence of bleeding on probing, the degree of bone loss as determined by radiography, and the degree of attachment loss of the gum to the tooth³⁸. The results are then graded by severity into mild, moderate, or severe/advanced periodontitis.

Treatment of periodontitis involves a variety of factors, although the most beneficial for most patients are the purely mechanical techniques of scaling, root planing, and cleaning that a clinician can perform to physically remove the biofilms from the surface of the tooth and allow for reattachment of the gums to the teeth and resolution of inflammation²⁷. Other therapies for treatment of periodontitis have been studied, from the administration of antibiotics³⁹, attempts to modify the host inflammatory responses that provide the other set of factors leading to periodontitis⁴⁰, to therapies hoping to promote the mechanical therapy traditionally used to treat the disease⁴¹, which have mixed results in terms of efficacy and which come with downsides in the form of side effects or requiring specialized equipment or training to perform. Another promising route is the use of vaccination against certain pathogens that are the most highly associated with periodontitis, such as *P. gingivalis*⁴²; work is ongoing to develop a similar vaccine against *T. denticola*⁴³. There is a great need for novel methods of treating periodontitis given that the global burden is high and current therapies are limited in their ability to treat disease and prevent recurrence.

Prevention of periodontal diseases like periodontitis is, in the absence of effective vaccines for pathogens involved in its progression, primarily focused on the maintenance of good oral hygiene, especially in individuals with risk factors for periodontitis, such as diabetes³⁸.

1.3 c-di-AMP

1.3.1 Discovery

The discovery of c-di-AMP was made when a certain DNA repair protein, DisA, was investigated by Witte et al. in 2008⁴⁴. Two homologs of DisA, one from Thermotoga maritima and another from Bacillus subtilis, were noted to control the ability of these bacteria to begin sporulation, and crystal structure analysis yielded results indicating that these enzymes could catalyze the synthesis from two molecules of ATP of a novel nucleotide second messenger, c-di-AMP. This activity was suppressed in the presence of a branched Holliday junction in the DNA to which DisA was bound, implying that DisA was able to signal DNA damage by shutting off c-di-AMP synthesis when it encountered dangerous DNA structures; these enzymes were termed diadenylate cyclases (DACs) for their ability to synthesize c-di-AMP⁴⁴. While c-di-GMP was at this point known as a bacterial nucleotide second messenger⁴⁵, this was the simultaneous discovery of the presence of c-di-AMP in bacteria as well as the first diadenylate cyclase enzyme capable of its synthesis. Since then, c-di-AMP has come to be found in a wide variety of bacteria, such as S. aureus⁴⁶, L. monocytogenes⁴⁸, and Gram-negative species like C. *trachomatis*⁴⁹. A diadenylate cyclase has even been validated from the archaeal species Methanocaldococcus jannaschii⁵⁰.

1.3.2 Structure

c-di-AMP is a second messenger dinucleotide synthesized from two molecules of ATP by an enzyme with diadenylate cyclase activity⁴⁴, resulting in the formation of two

phosphodiester bonds linking the two AMP moieties at their 3' and 5' carbon atoms. cdi-AMP displays several conformations, ranging from the highly extended conformation shown in Figure 2b. to a highly stacked, U-type conformation where the nucleobases are parallel to each other⁵¹. This flexibility is suggested to allow it to bind to a variety of molecules, including proteins and c-di-AMP sensing riboswitches⁵¹. The 3' OH groups on the ribose sugars are responsible for the nucleophilic attack on the corresponding phosphate group which results in the loss of one molecule of pyrophosphate per ATP molecule and the formation of the 12-member ring at the center of c-di-AMP⁴⁴.

1.3.3 Biological role

As a second messenger molecule, c-di-AMP acts as an overall sensor in bacteria which synthesize it, with global levels of c-di-AMP functioning to regulate the various molecules it is capable of binding, which are diverse and responsible for a variety of functions, including controlling DNA repair, biofilm formation, and virulence⁵².

It is essential for many bacteria which synthesize it, but overly high concentrations of c-di-AMP within bacterial cells can also be lethal, leading it to be termed an "essential poison" for these bacteria⁵³. Notably, c-di-AMP is absent from *E. coli*, making the bacterium a powerful potential platform to study the effects of individual genes involved in the metabolism of c-di-AMP without interference from native enzymes⁴⁶. Synthesis of c-di-AMP is performed by diadenylate cyclase enzymes, and degradation is performed by c-di-AMP-specific phosphodiesterases⁵⁴.



Figure 2. Chemical structure of c-di-AMP. A) The 2D structure of c-di-AMP. The nucleobases, ribose sugars, and phosphate groups make this molecule identifiable as two molecules of AMP joined by bonds between the ribose sugar and the phosphate group at the 3' and 5' carbons of the ribose sugars of the two AMP molecules. B) The 3D structure of c-di-AMP. 3' and 5' carbons of one molecule of AMP are labeled. Structures accessed from PubChem databases.

1.4 c-di-AMP binding partners

1.4.1 DisA and DNA repair

DNA damage sensing was the very first biological role identified for c-di-AMP when it was discovered as a product of the diadenylate cyclase activity of the DNA Holliday junction sensing protein DisA⁴⁴. It was noted to function in response to the initiation of sporulation within *B. subtilis*, scanning for damage, and upon discovery of DNA damage forming a complex with other DisA molecules and managing to inhibit sporulation. Besides a DNA-binding motif, however, it had no previously recognizable enzyme motifs, leaving its role in regulating sporulation unknown.

After structural and functional analysis in which the diadenylate cyclase activity of DisA was identified, the researchers described the diadenylate cyclase motif, identified c-di-AMP as a second messenger in bacteria, and importantly identified many bacterial genes containing a diadenylate cyclase motif, implying the existence of c-di-AMP within a variety of other bacteria⁴⁴. They discovered that the diadenylate cyclase activity of DisA was inhibited upon discovering DNA damage, and that the resulting low levels of c-di-AMP could prevent the bacterium from completing sporulation⁴⁴ until the damage was resolved.

Further experiments with a c-di-AMP and diadenylate cyclase-deficient mutant of *B. subtilis* showed that c-di-AMP supplementation was able to restore resistance to DNA damage induction and promote the health of spores in response to DNA damage⁵⁵.

1.4.2 Potassium transport

c-di-AMP has been identified as a negative regulator of potassium transport in multiple bacterial species, including S. aureus⁴⁷, S. pneumoniae⁵⁶, and L. *monocytogenes*⁵⁷. It binds to different proteins in these species, but a similar phenotype is established in response to c-di-AMP; deletion of c-di-AMP synthesis machinery impairs growth on potassium-containing media⁵⁷, while overaccumulation of c-di-AMP by deletion of genes encoding the enzymes responsible for breaking down c-di-AMP renders mutants unable to grow on media with low concentrations of potassium⁴⁷, demonstrating that c-di-AMP metabolism is essential for effective osmoregulation within these bacteria. In S. aureus, the protein KtrA, a member of the RCK family of potassium transport regulators, was identified as a c-di-AMP binding protein which was required for growth in low-potassium conditions; its ability to open the membrane-bound KtrB potassium transport protein is inhibited by c-di-AMP binding⁴⁷. In S. pneumoniae, the CabP protein interacts with the potassium uptake protein SPD 0076 to allow for efficient potassium uptake, unless bound by c-di-AMP which inactivates CabP and in turn reduces potassium uptake efficiency⁵⁶. In showing what role c-di-AMP might have in promoting growth in high-salt environments, *L. monocytogenes* mutants without the capacity to synthesize c-di-AMP effectively were shown to have worsened growth at high concentrations of potassium compared to wild-type L. monocytogenes, which was linked to its ability to inhibit the activity of the KimA potassium transport protein⁵⁷. In *B*. thuringiensis, control of expression of the KdpFABC potassium transport system is regulated by a c-di-AMP-binding riboswitch, where c-di-AMP prevents translation of

transcripts from the *kdpFABC* operon unless levels of c-di-AMP decrease in response to low potassium concentrations⁵⁸.

1.4.3 Biofilm formation

c-di-AMP has also been implicated in the secretion of extracellular polysaccharide (EPS) and the formation of a biofilm in multiple bacterial species. Both Cheng et al. and Peng et al. showed in 2016 a role for c-di-AMP in the regulation of biofilm formation in S. mutans, although with conflicting results; deletion of the cdaA gene which encodes the CdaA diadenylate cyclase responsible for c-di-AMP synthesis appeared to result in increased production of EPS in research by Cheng et al.59, but deletion of the *pdeA* gene which encodes the PdeA c-di-AMP phosphodiesterase responsible for its degradation resulted in increased production of EPS in the data from Peng et al. that same year⁶⁰. In a comment on the discrepancy, Peng defended their results as being more reflective of the actual role of c-di-AMP, citing the fact that they observed complementation of the *pdeA* gene as partially restoring the wild-type phenotype and that their data showed expected effects on glucosyltransferases responsible for EPS synthesis⁶¹, as well as identifying the CabPA c-di-AMP binding protein within S. mutans. In B. subtilis, c-di-AMP appears to have a negative effect on biofilm formation, and the repressor of biofilm synthesis genes SinR was implicated downstream of c-di-AMP as inactivation of SinR prevented high c-di-AMP concentrations from inhibiting biofilm synthesis⁵³. Another oral pathogen, *P. gingivalis*, was shown to require c-di-AMP for biofilm formation, along with noting an unusual metabolic system for c-di-AMP where expression of a c-di-AMP phosphodiesterase

increased c-di-AMP concentrations within the bacterium⁶². This is especially relevant in oral disease because *P. gingivalis* interacts with *Td* for synergistic biofilm development, so the mechanisms by which either organism induces biofilm production may have important consequences for periodontal disease driven by these two organisms¹⁷.

1.4.4 Polysaccharide and cell wall biosynthesis

c-di-AMP has been described as positively regulating the synthesis of peptidoglycan in bacterial cells and as regulating the formation of the bacterial cell wall more generally, as noted in the construction of bacterial mutants incapable of synthesizing or degrading c-di-AMP^{46,48,63}. In *S. aureus*, c-di-AMP was discovered during analysis of lipoteichoic acid-deficient strains which were still able to grow normally; this was found to be in multiple cases due to a suppressor mutation in the gene for the c-di-AMP-degrading phosphodiesterase, gdpP⁴⁶. This mutation resulted in the accumulation of c-di-AMP, an increase in the amount of cross-linked peptidoglycan within the cell wall, and decreased cell size, suggesting that c-di-AMP plays a positive role in peptidoglycan synthesis within *S. aureus*⁴⁶. Showing a similar role for c-di-AMP, a L. monocytogenes mutant with a deletion in the dacA gene for a diadenylate cyclase enzyme showed greatly increased sensitivity to cefuroxime, a cell-wall targeting β lactam antibiotic, and higher rates of *in vitro* bacteriolysis in normal BHI media⁴⁸. The *B*. subtilis $\sigma(M)$ factor, known to provide resistance to several cell-envelope targeting antibiotics, appears to play a role in resistance to cefuroxime that is related to the function of c-di-AMP, as *B. subtilis* mutants with an inactive *qdpP* gene restore cefuroxime resistance to mutants without $\sigma(M)^{63}$.

1.4.5 Control of carbon cycle metabolism

A role for c-di-AMP has been determined in regulation of the central metabolic enzyme pyruvate carboxylase in *L. monocytogenes* and *E. faecalis*, binding to a regulatory site near the enzyme's active site and reducing its ability to convert pyruvate to oxaloacetate⁶⁴. This was found to affect growth rates of *L. monocytogenes* and the production of glutamate and glutamine from oxaloacetate, and to have important effects on bacterial intracellular growth, with mutants of the *dacA* diadenylate cyclase gene growing more slowly and showing higher bacteriolysis within primary bone marrow derived macrophage cell lines⁶⁴, likely a consequence of metabolic imbalance as carbon cycle metabolism becomes dysfunctional without c-di-AMP regulation.

1.4.6 Riboswitches

The *ydaO* class of riboswitches has been shown to control a wide range of genes, especially those related to the cell wall metabolism, osmotic stress, and spore germination⁶⁵. It was identified as being a c-di-AMP sensing riboswitch, preventing translation of genes whose mRNA transcripts contain the motif in the presence of c-di-AMP⁶⁶, which accords with findings that c-di-AMP regulates proteins involved in the same pathways, suggesting the use of the c-di-AMP-binding *ydaO* riboswitch is another mechanism by which c-di-AMP regulates these pathways. The *ydaO* riboswitch is notable for containing a high number of recurrent motifs such as three-way junctions, and for effectively discriminating against c-di-GMP and 3'3'-cGAMP⁶⁷. This same class of riboswitch was shown to directly regulate transcription of genes in the potassium-

uptake complex *kdp* within *B. thuringiensis*, directly linking the ability of the c-di-AMP riboswitch to bind c-di-AMP to the efficiency of potassium transport⁵⁸.

1.5 Diadenylate cyclases

1.5.1 Categories

Diadenylate cyclase proteins serve diverse roles within bacteria and have been identified in Archaea as well⁵⁰. These enzymes catalyze the formation of c-di-AMP from two molecules of ATP, resulting in an increase of intracellular concentrations of c-di-AMP and allowing c-di-AMP to bind and regulate its downstream targets within the cell⁶⁸. There are five currently identified classes of diadenylate cyclases: the DisA class⁴⁴, which are involved in DNA repair, the CdaA class⁶⁹, important membrane-bound overall synthesizers of c-di-AMP within bacterial cells, the CdaS class⁶⁹, which provide c-di-AMP synthesis particularly in the process of sporulation, the CdaM class⁷⁰ responsible for c-di-AMP synthesis in *Mycoplasma* and lacking the distinctive N-terminal domains of diadenylate cyclases belonging to other classes, and the CdaZ class⁵⁰ responsible for c-di-AMP synthesis in the archaeal species *Methanocaldococcus jannaschii*.

These enzymes can all play roles in c-di-AMP metabolism within a cell, and some species have multiple diadenylate cyclases belonging to different classes, such as *B. subtilis*⁶⁹.

1.5.2 Structure and function of CdaA-type diadenylate cyclases and their regulatory partner CdaR

The CdaA-type diadenylate cyclases are the most abundantly found in bacteria⁷¹, and the one with a predicted member in *T. denticola*, encoded by the gene TDE 1909, appears to belong to this class and is labeled CdaA here based on its predicted function as a diadenylate cyclase. These DACs are characterized by the presence of transmembrane domains at their N-terminus, a diadenylate cyclase domain with a conserved HDGA...RHR protein sequence, and two coiled-coil (CC) motifs around the N- and C-terminal ends of the diadenylate cyclase domain⁷². Furthermore, these DACs are often encoded in an operon with a regulatory protein, CdaR, which interacts at the signal peptide and modulates the diadenylate cyclase activity of the corresponding CdaA protein. In B. subtilis, CdaR is a positive regulator and increases DAC activity 20fold⁶⁹, while in *L. monocytogenes*, CdaR is a negative regulator of CdaA function and deletion of CdaR improves bacterial resistance to lysozyme⁷³. CdaR has an N-terminal signal peptide and 4 YbbR domains of unknown function. It is believed from experiments on truncated CdaA and CdaR proteins that the signal peptide of CdaR interacts with the transmembrane domain of CdaA to regulate its function⁷³ as shown in Figure 3. The function of the DacA diadenylate cyclase in *L. monocytogenes* was additionally found to require the presence of Mn²⁺ or Co²⁺, with Mg²⁺ being unable to promote DAC activity, and dimerization of DacA needing to occur for diadenylate cyclase activity⁷².



Figure 3. The structure of a CdaA-type diadenylate cyclase and CdaR. A diagram showing the localization of CdaA and CdaR to the cellular membrane of a bacterial cell and the resulting conversion of ATP to c-di-AMP by CdaA as regulated by CdaR. CM: cellular membrane.

1.5.3 Regulation, activation, and inhibition

CdaA genes are often found as part of an operon encoding three separate proteins: CdaA, CdaR, and GlmM. GlmM is an enzyme which, with its partner GlmS, generates glucosamine-1-phosphate, a crucial precursor for peptidoglycan synthesis⁵³. In *B. subtilis,* this operon is constitutively expressed at low levels from a promoter upstream of *cdaA*⁶⁹. CdaR is capable of activating or repressing CdaA by interacting at its signal peptide with the TM domains of CdaA, as described^{69,73}. Other diadenylate cyclases show autoinhibition, where high concentrations of c-di-AMP bind to the DAC enzyme itself and decrease its activity, as is the case with the CdaS enzyme of *B. subtilis*⁷⁴, but such activity has not been reported for CdaA. In *S. aureus*, an additional inhibition mechanism where GlmM binding to the CdaA-type enzyme DacA is capable of inhibiting DAC activity, likely by masking the active site of DacA⁷⁵.

1.6 c-di-AMP in infection

1.6.1 c-di-AMP regulation of virulence

An important factor to consider in discerning the pathways of c-di-AMP regulation in bacteria is the resulting impact on virulence that c-di-AMP metabolism has. As c-di-AMP has been shown to be capable of regulating important factors like cell wall biosynthesis (and according sensitivity to cell wall-targeting antibiotics)^{48,63}, biofilm formation⁶⁰, and osmolyte transport⁵⁷, understanding the effects that this regulation has on the ability of bacteria to establish and maintain infection is key to understanding some of the clinical applications of this information, and even the potential of c-di-AMP as a drug target given its absence in eukaryotic cells. To that end, multiple pathogens known to contain c-di-AMP have been studied for the effects of c-di-AMP regulation on virulence.

In the oral pathogen *P. gingivalis*, c-di-AMP was shown to be essential for growth and survival, improving the integrity of the bacterial cell envelope and the structure of the outer lipopolysaccharide layer and increasing biofilm formation, as well as improving the virulence potential of *P. gingivalis* in infection of *G. mellonella* larvae⁶². *L. monocytogenes* infection of macrophage cell lines was similarly impaired by the deletion of the diadenylate cyclase enzyme gene *dacA*, likely because of the decreased cell wall stability that arose⁴⁸. The additional effect of c-di-AMP regulation of central carbon metabolism on the virulence of *L. monocytogenes* was studied by deletion of the pyruvate carboxylase gene *pycA* along with *dacA*, and resulted in improved growth in macrophage cell lines⁶⁴. In the spirochete *B. burgdorferi*, by contrast, deletion of the cdi-AMP phosphodiesterase gene *dhP* required complementation to survive, and complemented mutants were defective in infecting mice as well as showing slightly reduced resistance to β-lactam antibiotics, implying that c-di-AMP negatively affects virulence in this bacterium⁷⁶.

1.6.2 c-di-AMP interactions with host cells

c-di-AMP has been shown to be a pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP) which is capable of activating the cytosolic surveillance pathway, a crucial pathway of the innate cellular immune system which activates NF- κ B expression and results in expression of immune molecules like interferon- β (IFN- β); its interaction with c-di-AMP was first described in *L. monocytogenes* infection⁷⁷ as the host responded to secreted

c-di-AMP from the bacterium during intracellular infection. A similar mechanism was described for the Group B Streptococcus, with the identification of the cGAS-STING signaling pathway as the one responsible for induction of IFN- β in mouse cells and the identification of an ectonucleotidase CndP, encoded by the bacterium, which degrades secreted c-di-AMP; mutants without CndP resulted in higher c-di-AMP secretion and induction of higher levels of IFN- β , and were less effective at causing bacteremia in mice⁷⁸, showing that Group B Streptococcus may attempt to evade immune recognition by degrading secreted c-di-AMP, which is important for causing worsened disease in mammalian hosts. The Gram-negative pathogen *Chlamydia trachomatis* has been shown to activate IFN- β responses through STING, and it has been suggested that secretion of c-di-AMP is the secreted metabolite capable of activating this pathway during *C. trachomatis* infection⁴⁹.

Fascinatingly, this has led to the study of c-di-AMP as an immune adjuvant for cancer treatment, with the *M. tuberculosis* vaccine strain BCG used as a platform for overexpression of c-di-AMP, where it was shown to improve antitumor efficacy in a model of bladder cancer⁷⁹. It additionally was shown to significantly reduce *P. gingivalis*-induced atherosclerosis in a mouse model when topically applied to mice, which was theorized by the researchers to be a result of heightened immune training⁸⁰.

1.7 Research objective

To determine whether *Treponema denticola* possesses the second messenger molecule c-di-AMP and, if so, what cellular machinery may be responsible for its synthesis in Td.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Cultivation of *T. denticola* strains

Td strains ATCC 35405 (type strain), SP50, and SP55 were cultured in New Oral Spirochete media (NOS) in anaerobic conditions at 37°C with a gas mixture of 5% H₂, 5% CO₂, and 90% N₂⁸¹.

2.2 Transformation and cultivation of *E. coli* BL21 cells

To generate quantities of recombinant CdaA and CdaR protein for study in HPLC, *E. coli* BL21(DE3) cells were transformed via heat shock protocol where cells were combined with pET-45b plasmid DNA containing the ORF encoding the protein of interest (generated and sequenced by Genewiz in the case of CdaA and in-lab using PCR-based cloning in the case of CdaR), cooled for 30 minutes on ice, placed in a 42°C water bath for 1 minute, and suspended in SOC media before being incubated at 37°C for one hour. After this, 200 µL of heat-shocked cells were plated on LB agar plates containing 50 mg/L of ampicillin and incubated at 37°C overnight. Growing colonies were picked, and in the case of CdaR were subjected to PCR to pick transformants which were positive for the gene of interest. Positive transformants were grown in LB containing 100 mg/L ampicillin at 37°C, and confirmation that recombinant protein expression could be selectively induced upon addition of 1 mM 1-D-thiogalactoside (IPTG) was determined by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie brilliant blue solution staining.

2.3 Reagents

Reagents used include Complete[™] EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor (Sigma-Aldrich), Mini-PROTEAN® TGX[™] precast 8-16% gels (Bio-Rad), Bacterial Protein Extraction

Reagent (ThermoFisher), Pierce[™] Universal Nuclease for Cell lysis (ThermoFisher), ELISA kits for c-di-AMP (Cayman Chemical), and Pierce[™] BCA Protein Assay Kit (ThermoFisher).

2.4 PCR, plasmid constructs, and sequencing

The ORFs of the genes for CdaA and CdaR in *Td* were cloned into the plasmid expression vector pET-45b and the dual expression vector pET-Duet-1 using Phusion® DNA polymerase (New England Biolabs) to amplify the gene from purified genomic DNA of *Td* type strain ATCC35405 as the template. After digestion of the plasmids and the amplified ORF sequences with the appropriate restriction enzymes ligation with T4 DNA ligase (Promega) was performed. Plasmids were purified using the Monarch PCR & DNA Cleanup Kit (NEB) and the resulting DNA constructs analyzed via agarose gel electrophoresis. Notably, this version of the ORF for CdaA omitted several transmembrane domains encoded on the ORF for the native gene close to the N-terminus, due to the successful expression and purification of recombinant protein containing transmembrane domains being difficult, as found during the expression of a diadenylate cyclase from *L. monocytogenes* in Rosenberg *et al.*, 2015⁷². Both plasmids also include an N-terminal hexahistidine tag within the open reading frame downstream of the T7 promoter of all multiple cloning sites, which was used for purification.

The CdaR-cloned pET-45b plasmid destined for use in recombinant protein purification was sequenced by Genewiz using their free universal primers for Sanger sequencing to determine which plasmid contained a perfectly faithful ORF for CdaR,

Name	Sequence (5'-3')
TDE1908_F_BamHI	ATC <u>GGATCC</u> AATGAAAATTAGAAAAATTTTTGACCG
TDE1908_R_Xhol	GAT <u>CTCGAG</u> TTATTCGGATGTCCTTTGCTTC
TDE1909_Duet_F_Ndel	ATAT <u>CATATG</u> ATGCTTAGAACCGGAAAGCACTCAAAC
TDE1909_Duet_R_Kpnl	ATA <u>GGTACC</u> ATTTTCATCTTGTAAGGCCTCCCGC
TDE1908_Duet_F_EcoRI	ATAT <u>GAATTC</u> TTTTTATGCCTCCCTCTTGTTATAGAAAATTCGGG
TDE1908_Duet_R_Sall	TATA <u>GTCGAC</u> TTATTCGGATGTCTTTGCTTCCTTTATCTTG

Table 1. Primers utilized in experiments. Primers were used to clone the TDE_1908 gene encoding CdaR in *Td* into pET-45b for recombinant protein expression. They were also used to clone the genes encoded CdaR and CdaA into pET-Duet-1 for dual expression experiments. Underlined bases represent the restriction sites present on the primers.

which was then used to transform *E. coli* BL21 cells. Results of PCR amplification, restriction enzyme digestion, and DNA ligation were visualized through agarose gel electrophoresis and UVA fluorescence on a ChemiDoc MP Imaging system (Bio-Rad).

2.5 **Protein sample preparation**

Total bacterial lysates were collected through use of B-PER (ThermoFisher). Bacterial cell density in culture was approximated using spectrophotometry to measure the optical density of cultures at 600 nm, and up to 5 mL of *Td* culture or 10 mL of *E. coli* culture were centrifuged at 5000 g for 10 minutes before being resuspended in four mL of B-PER. Lysis was performed for 15 minutes at room temperature, and the resulting lysate was centrifuged at 15000 g for 10 minutes in order to separate out cellular debris (e.g., cellular membranes). The resulting supernatant was used as a sample to measure c-di-AMP content within bacteria in culture through competitive ELISA.

2.6 Coomassie brilliant blue staining

After preparation by SDS-PAGE using Mini-PROTEAN® TGX[™] precast 8-16% gels from Bio-Rad, protein gels were stained with Coomassie brilliant blue staining solution (1.25 g Coomassie Blue R-250 in 200 mL methanol, 50 mL glacial acetic acid, 250 mL H₂O) for 1 hour. Destaining by washing with destaining solution (400 mL methanol, 100 mL glacial acetic acid, 500 mL H₂O) was performed with rocking until the non-protein-containing regions of the gel were clear and bands correlating to proteins after electrophoresis were visible.

2.7 Bicinchoninic acid assay

Protein concentrations in samples collected from bacterial cultures were measured using the Pierce[™] BCA Protein Assay Kit (ThermoFisher). Included bovine serum albumin was used to prepare standards and generate a standard curve against which the concentrations of protein in samples were determined using absorbance values generated spectrophotometrically by the SpectraMax iD3 Multi-mode Microplate Reader (Molecular Devices). This information was used to standardize the samples for use in the ELISA as a proxy for the total amount of bacterial cells used to generate the samples, allowing for accurate comparison of the samples against each other as each well was given the same amount of protein during each replicate.

2.8 c-di-AMP ELISA

Both the ORFs for CdaA and the putative CdaR homolog were cloned into the dual expression vector pET-Duet-1 as described above. Transformed *E. coli* BL21(DE3) cells were grown with shaking at 37°C in LB with ampicillin at a concentration of 100 mg/L until they reached an OD600 of roughly 0.3. Expression of both proteins was induced by IPTG added at a concentration of 1 mM and incubated at 37°C for 4 hours. Protein expression by IPTG was confirmed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie brilliant blue staining of proteins in the resulting gel. To investigate c-di-AMP formation by these bacteria after induction of protein, 10 mL of cultures were collected after induction of protein expression, centrifuged, and lysed in B-PER as above. Samples were then subjected to a BCA assay using the Pierce[™] BCA Protein Assay Kit (ThermoFisher) to determine protein content, and standardized with B-PER before being analyzed through

a kit for performing an ELISA for c-di-AMP (Cayman Chemical) to determine the overall c-di-AMP concentrations in the bacteria during incubation.

This assay is based on the principle of a competitive ELISA, through which competition for binding immunoglobulin specific for an analyte present in the sample with a horseradish peroxidase/HRP-linked c-di-AMP tracer molecule allows for detection of c-di-AMP in the sample through spectrophotometric comparison of HRP activity in sample wells to a generated standard curve. Samples were standardized for protein concentration before being added to a 96-well microplate pre-coated with IgG molecules specific for a monoclonal antibody specific for c-di-AMP. Standards were prepared and subsequently added to the plate for generation of a standard curve. After incubation at 37°C of the samples with the monoclonal antibody and the HRP-linked c-di-AMP tracer for two hours, the plate was treated with TMB which was cleaved by the HRP-linked tracer to form 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine diimine. The reaction between HRP and the dye was allowed to proceed protected from light at room temperature for 30 minutes. A sulfuric acid-based stop solution was added to inhibit further reaction, and the absorbance values of all wells measured at 450 nm by the microplate reader. Analysis of the resulting data was performed using the spreadsheet provided by Cayman Chemical specifically for their cyclic di-AMP ELISA.

2.9 Purification of recombinant protein

With assistance and equipment from the Marconi lab, *E. coli* cells with cloned expression vectors were grown in 400 mL of autoinduction media (25 mM dibasic sodium phosphate, 25 mM monobasic potassium phosphate, 50 mM ammonium

chloride, 5 mM sodium sulfate, 10 g tryptone, 5 g yeast extract, 10 g glycerol, 1 g glucose, 4 g lactose, 1 mM MgCl₂, 100 mg/L ampicillin in 2L) where the lactose in the media is capable of activating T7 RNA polymerase expression under the control of the lac promoter. The resulting culture was then collected after shaking at 24°C for 24 hours, and the bacteria lysed after centrifugation at 5000 x g for 15 minutes performed at 4°C by resuspending the resulting cell pellet in binding/washing buffer with 20 mM NaH₂PO₄, 500 mM NaCl, and 20 mM imidazole calibrated to a pH of 7.4, with a Sigma Aldrich protease inhibitor cocktail at 1% v/v and Pierce™ Universal Nuclease for Cell lysis (ThermoFisher) at a final concentration of 0.5 µg/mL and vortexing the resuspension. Lysis was then completed by passing resuspended samples through an EmulsiFlex®-C3 high-pressure homogenizer three times at 1000-15000 psi at 4°C, and the resulting slurry was centrifuged at 15,500 g for 30 minutes at 4°C, after which recombinant protein was purified by FPLC. FPLC was performed by nickel affinity chromatography, using the ÄKTA Pure 25 M platform from Cytiva with a 1 mL HisTrap FF column at a flow rate of 4 mL/min at 4°C⁸². The HisTrap FF column was equilibrated with 5 mL of B/W buffer before samples were loaded into a 10 mL Superloop and washed with 20 mL of B/W buffer. Elution of bound protein was performed using 5 mL of elution buffer at 20 mM NaH₂PO₄, 500 mM NaCl, and 250 mM imidazole and collected in 1 mL fractions from under the observed peak at 280 nm. Fractions were then combined and subjected to dialysis into PBS overnight at 4°C using Spectra/Por 1 dialysis membranes with a 6-8 kDa MW cut-off (Spectrum Laboratories). Purity of protein stocks was determined using Coomassie brilliant blue staining and concentrations by a BCA assay (ThermoFisher).

2.10 High performance liquid chromatography

Investigating the ability of CdaA to synthesize c-di-AMP from ATP in vitro was done using HPLC, with assistance and equipment from the Marconi lab. Purified recombinant CdaA enzyme was added at a concentration of 5 µM to a reaction buffer consisting of 50 mM Tris HCl, 0.5 mM EDTA, and 50 mM NaCl, to which was added different metal salts to a final concentration of 10 mM to determine the activity of the recombinant enzyme in the presence of different metal cofactors. As references for the elution time of both the reagent ATP and the intended product c-di-AMP, each was incubated at 37°C for 60 minutes, boiled, centrifuged at 15000 g for 2 min, and passed through 0.22 µm syringe filters from Millex. HPLC was performed using a Supelco Supelcosil LC-18-T column on the Agilent 1260 Infinity II system. The two buffers used in the filtration process were a 4 mM tetrabutylammonium H₂S, 100 mM KH₂PO₄ buffer at pH 5.9, and 100% methanol. Nucleotides were separated using a gradient of 0-50% methanol progressing linearly over 20 minutes. The reaction between CdaA and ATP was allowed to proceed at 37°C for 60 min, after which they were boiled, centrifuged, and filtered the same way before HPLC was performed. In an extension of this protocol, the reaction was allowed to continue for a total of 240 min.

2.11 Sequence alignment and distance matrix generation

To compare the similarities of the CdaA protein sequence between different *Treponema* species, a sequence alignment was performed using the protein BLAST algorithm from NCBI to search protein sequence databases and acquire sequences (based on the entry for a given species which had the highest Expect value) for relevant species and the MEGA 11 software to perform the alignment. Similarity, rather than identity, was then used to generate a distance matrix comparing the overall similarities between the sequences for all the studied species.

2.12 Colony picking and *Td* strain analysis

To determine whether a given colony or strain gDNA sample of Td possessed the ORF for a given protein, PCR was performed using Taq polymerase as part of the GoTaq® Green Master Mix (Promega) and the primers for the relevant ORF (Table 1). Bacterial DNA was supplied either by colony picking using a pipette tip or by addition of 0.1 µL of gDNA. Results were analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis to determine if a colony or strain was PCR-positive for the gene using the chosen primers.

2.13 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed via use of one-way ANOVA to compare the cdi-AMP concentrations of *Td* samples per ng of protein, with a Dunnett post-hoc test to determine specifically which groups had significant differences in c-di-AMP concentration, and with a two-way ANOVA test for determining the different concentrations of c-di-AMP per milliliter of *E. coli* samples. Chapter 3: Results

3.1 T. denticola makes c-di-AMP in broth culture

The concentrations of c-di-AMP in samples of *Td* cell lysates grown in NOS were measured using a Cayman Chemical cyclic di-AMP ELISA kit after standardization of samples using a BCA to ensure similar concentrations of bacterial lysate were investigated. Using a standard of c-di-AMP which came from the kit to generate a standard curve, concentrations of c-di-AMP were measured in triplicate at two dilutions for each sample to determine an overall concentration of c-di-AMP for each strain. These results were compared to *E. coli*, a non-c-di-AMP-producing bacterium⁴⁶. While the amount of c-di-AMP fluctuated between strains and between replicates, high concentrations of c-di-AMP were observed consistently in samples containing *Td*, an effect maintained across technical replicates and dilutions (Figure 4).

3.2 The *T. denticola* protein CdaA is a diadenylate cyclase capable of synthesizing c-di-AMP *in vitro*

HPLC was used to investigate the results of incubating recombinant CdaA purified from *E. coli* with ATP, the precursor for c-di-AMP synthesis, in the presence of 10 mM concentrations of Co²⁺, Mn²⁺, or Mg²⁺ for 1 hour. Apparent diadenylate cyclase activity was altered significantly by the metal ion being supplied, with the strongest activity being found when CdaA was supplied with Mn²⁺, modest activity upon addition of Co²⁺, and no apparent activity upon supplementation with Mg²⁺ (Figure 5). These results show the clear ability of CdaA to synthesize c-di-AMP from ATP *in vitro* when conjugated with the correct metal ions as cofactors. After identifying two metal cofactors which seemed to be satisfactory for CdaA diadenylate cyclase activity, incubation with



B)

Figure 4. A) Standard curve generated using Cayman Chemical cyclic di-AMP kit to estimate concentrations of c-di-AMP in samples, and corresponding information on the parameters of the line of best fit drawn (sigmoidal, 4PL curve rendered in GraphPad Prism). B) c-di-AMP concentrations of samples taken from three different strains of *Td* grown in broth culture 4 days after passage as measured by competitive ELISA. Figure represents the results of two biological replicates. Results analyzed by One-way ANOVA with Dunnett post-hoc test. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

ATP was performed with buffers containing these metal ions for 4 hours instead of one. In no condition was complete conversion of ATP to c-di-AMP by CdaA observed.

3.3 CdaR does not increase the diadenylate cyclase activity of CdaA in buffer

Recombinantly expressed and purified CdaA and CdaR were co-incubated prior to the addition of ATP, and the samples analyzed by HPLC to detect the formation of c-di-AMP in the buffer solution. Low but noticeable conversion of ATP into c-di-AMP by CdaA was noticed and compared to the resulting peaks in the condition where CdaR was added, where no difference was observed as a result of CdaR addition (Figure 6).

3.4 CdaA⁺ *E. coli* cultures show c-di-AMP formation, especially when simultaneously expressing CdaR

Lysates in B-PER from *E. coli* transformed with pET-Duet-1 dual expression vectors cloned with CdaA, CdaR, both, or neither were collected after protein expression for 4 hours. These samples were tested using the ELISA kit used previously to test native c-di-AMP concentrations in *Td*, detecting higher c-di-AMP concentrations in CdaA⁺ bacteria and even higher c-di-AMP concentrations in CdaA⁺/CdaR⁺ bacteria.

3.5 The CdaA sequence is highly conserved between treponemes, especially at the diadenylate cyclase domain

After determining the protein sequence for the diadenylate cyclase CdaA in the type strain of *Treponema denticola*, ATCC35405, from the UniProt consortium, this sequence was used to perform a local alignment using NCBI's BLAST algorithm. The



Figure 5. c-di-AMP formation by CdaA when supplied with ATP and metal

cofactors. Mn appears to increase activity significantly (A), Co modestly (B), and Mg appears not to be suitable as a cofactor for CdaA activity (C). The 4-hour incubation was not performed with Mg.

A)

B)



Figure 6. CdaR addition to CdaA in buffer does not increase diadenylate cyclase activity. CdaA and CdaR were co-incubated in Mn²⁺ buffer for 30 minutes prior to 1-hour incubation with ATP. A) Incubation of CdaA with ATP alone B) Co-incubation of CdaA and CdaR with ATP.





Figure 7. Transformation of *E. coli* with *Td* genes for c-di-AMP metabolism results in c-di-AMP synthesis. The ORF of CdaA, accessory protein CdaR, or both were cloned into the dual expression vector pET-Duet-1. *E. coli* BL21(DE3) cells transformed with these plasmids had protein expression induced and lysates taken to see if c-di-AMP formation could be detected. Lysates from cells with CdaA expression had significantly increased levels of c-di-AMP detected compared to those with CdaR alone or empty pET-Duet-1 vector. Dual expression of both CdaA and CdaR significantly increased measured levels of c-di-AMP compared to CdaA expression alone. Results represent three biological replicates. results were then used to identify other *Treponema* species with homologous proteins whose sequences showed the greatest identity to that of the protein in the type strain. One sequence from each additional species was collected based on which result for a given species had the highest E-value according to NCBI's algorithm. Those sequences were then used to generate a distance matrix in MEGA for all species with homologous proteins based on similarity between the protein sequences. Conservation at the crucial diadenylate cyclase domain was noted especially and compared between the recorded sequences in all species (Figure 8).

3.6 Other T. denticola strains have CdaA encoded in their genomes

The same primer set used for cloning the CdaA ORF out of genomic DNA from *Td* type strain ATCC35405 was used to perform PCR amplification with Taq polymerase of the CdaA ORF in gDNA samples and whole cell lysates from twelve strains of *Td*. The resulting strains were all noted as CdaA positive, suggesting that they contain an ORF for a diadenylate cyclase with high identity for that in the type strain studied in this research (Figure 9).

A)	T. den.	T. vin.	T. med.	T. soc.	T. pec.	T. mal.	T. lec.	T. put.	T. par.	T. pal.	T. pha.
T. denticola											
T. vincentii	0.3806										
T. medium	0.3843	0.0148									
T. socranskii	0.4428	0.5019	0.5019								
T. pectinovorum	0.4154	0.4644	0.4682	0.3100							
T. maltophilum	0.3954	0.4504	0.4542	0.3346	0.3308						
T. lecithinolyticum	0.4167	0.4639	0.4639	0.3333	0.3068	0.1597					
T. putidum	0.0584	0.3657	0.3619	0.4391	0.4191	0.3840	0.4167				
T. parvum	0.4485	0.4794	0.4757	0.3321	0.3015	0.3612	0.3371	0.4301			
T. pallidum	0.3993	0.4627	0.4627	0.4613	0.4669	0.4373	0.4394	0.3993	0.4779		
T. phagedenis	0.3162	0.4173	0.4173	0.4796	0.4333	0.4221	0.4373	0.3199	0.4741	0.4133	
T. pedis	0.1861	0.3731	0.3769	0.4576	0.4228	0.3840	0.4205	0.1898	0.4265	0.3919	0.3077

Species/Abbry B)	*										*															*			*	*		*					*				*			
1. T. denticola	М	Е	F	Т	R	N		Т	A	F	Y	S	S	Y	L	R	P	V	F	D	V	L	L	L	A	F	L	М	Υ	ĸ	A	YC	2 1	L	L	κ	Т	Q	A	I)	Q	L.		KG
2. T. vincentii	М	Е	L	L	R	D	M	L	S	F	Y	L	S	Y	I	G	P	V	1	D	V	L	L	L	A	F	L	М	Y	ĸ	s	Y C	1	L	T	ĸ	т	Q	A	A	Q	L (GI	KG
3. T. medium	M	Е	L	L	R	D	M	L	S	F	Y	L	S	Y	I	G	P	V	L	D	v	L	L	L	A	F	L	М	Y	ĸ	s	Y C	1	L	T	ĸ	т	Q	A	A	Q	L (GI	ĸe
4. T. socranskii	М	ĸ	S	L	D	S	L	R	A	A	Y	-	D	Y	I	R	L	I	L	D	1	G	1	L	Т	F	Т	L	Υ	ĸ	A	Y E	L	I	V	ĸ	т	Ν	G	м	Q	I.	I I	R A
5. T. pectinovorum	M	Ν	A	F	Е	N	L	۷	K	T	Y	-	D	F	I	R	P	I	F	D	1	A	1	М	A	F	I.	F	Y	ĸ	A	Y E	1	I	V	ĸ	т	Ν	А	L	Q	L.		ΚA
6. T. maltophilum	M	s	G	Μ	G	K	1	L	Е	I.	Y	-	D	Y	I	R	P	V	L	D	1	G	V	L	A	F	1	L	Y	ĸ	М	Y G	1	I	V	ĸ	т	Q	S	Ŀ	Q	L		K F
7. T. lecithinolyticum	М	Ν	A	F	Е	K	L	Ρ	Е	L	Y	-	A	Y	I	R	P	L	V	D		G	1	L	A	F	Т	L	Y	ĸ	۷	Y G	1	I	V	ĸ	т	Q	S	Ŀ	Q	L.	L)	K F
8. T. putidum	М	Е	L	Т	R	N		Т	A	F	Y	S	S	Y	L	R	P	V	L	D	v	L	L	L	A	F	L	М	Y	ĸ	A	Y C	1	L	L	ĸ	т	Q	А	E C	Q	L	D	ĸe
9. T. parvum	М	Ν	1	F	D	D	L	S	K	L	Y	-	D	F	I	R	P	F	F	D	1	G	1	1	A	F	L	L	Y	ĸ	A	YA	V	M	R	ĸ	т	Ν	S	v	Q	L.	I I	RS
10. T. pallidum	М	L	F	L	R	S	M	V	L	W	Y	A	A	Y	٧	R	P	L	. L	D	V	A	L	L	S	F	L	L	Y	ĸ	۲Ì	Y E	1	L	V	ĸ	т	Q	A	v	Q	Ľ	VI	KG
11. T. phagedenis	М	Q	F	Т	R	Т	V	F	Т	L	Y	Т	D	Y	I	R	Н	I	L	D		A	L	L	A	F	L	Т	Y	ĸ	۲Ì	Y E	1	L	1	Q	т	Q	A	A	Q	L	L)	ĸe
12. T. pedis	M	Е	1	T	R	N		A	A	F	Y	S	S	Y	L	K	P	V	L	D		L	L	L	A	F	L	Т	Y	ĸ	A	Y C	1	L	L	κ	Т	Q	A	v	Q	Ľ	V I	K G

Species/Abbrv C)					1	•		1					*						*			*	*	*			٠		*	*	1	•	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	1	*		
1. T. denticola	ТС	F	۲ L	Н	1) G	A	A	(I	V	Q	N	G	М	I	V	S	; A	G	С	F	L	Ρ	L	S	Е	Q	וב	D	I F	R N	(S	F	G	Т	R	н	R	Α,	A	C	G I	/ S	
2. T. vincentii	тс	F	Ľ	н	1	G	A	۱V	٧	1	D	Ν	G	R	Ì	1	A	A	G	С	Y	L	Ρ	L	т	к	Q	E	D	1	N P	(S	F	G	Т	R	н	R	Α,	A I	4	G	A	
3. T. medium	т	F	Ľ	н	1	G	A	N V	V	1	D	Ν	G	R	V	1	A	A	G	С	Y	L	Ρ	L	т	к	Q	E	D	1	N P	(S	F	G	Т	R	н	R	Α,	A I	4	G	I A	
4. T. socranskii	тс	F	Ľ	н	1	G	A		F	V	L	G	G	ĸ	L	L	A	A	G	С	F	L	Ρ	L	S	Е	Q	Y	D	I F	< H	τ	F	G	Т	R	н	R	Α,	A I	_ (G	S	
5. T. pectinovorum	т	F	Ľ	н	1	A	A	C	: 1	V	Q	N	G	ĸ	1	1	S	A	G	С	F	L	Ρ	L	s	Е	Q	Y	D	I F	< 1	τ	F	G	Т	R	н	R	A /	A I	4	G	S	
6. T. maltophilum	т	F	۲ L	н	1	G	A	S	; v	1	Q	N	G	ĸ	1	V	A	S	G	С	F	L	Ρ	L	s	Е	Q	۲I	D	I F	R	τ	F	G	Т	R	н	R	A /	A I	4	G	S	
7. T. lecithinolyticum	т	F	<mark>ا ا</mark>	н	1	G	A	A	(I	1	Q	N	G	ĸ	L	L	A	A	G	С	F	L	Ρ	L	S	Е	Q	۲I	D	I F	R	τ	F	G	Т	R	н	R	A /	A I	4	G	S	
8. T. putidum	Т	F	<mark>ا ا</mark>	н	1	G	A	A	V	v	Q	Ν	G	м	V	v	S	; A	G	С	F	L	Ρ	L	s	Е	Q	ם ב	D	I F	R H	(S	F	G	Т	R	н	R	A /	A I	1	G١	/ S	
9. T. parvum	ΝT	T	N	н	1	G	A		; v	1	Q	G	G	ĸ	٧	1	A	A	G	С	F	L	Ρ	L	s	Е	Q	Y	D	I F	< H	τ	F	G	Т	R	н	R	A /	A I	_ ¢	G	S	
10. T. pallidum	Т	F	N	н	1	G	A	N V	1	٧	R	D	G	L	٧	V	S	A	G	S	F	L	Ρ	L	s	Е	Q	н	D	I F	R	٢	F	G	Т	R	н	R	A /	A I	4	G I	AN	
11. T. phagedenis	т	F	۲ L	Н	1) G	A	1	1	٧	Q	N	G	T	1	۷	A	A	G	С	F	L	Ρ	L	s	Е	Q	ם ב	D	I F	R	(S	F	G	Т	R	н	R	A /	A I	4	G	r s	
12. T. pedis) T	F	N	Н	1) G	A	N S	5 1	٧	Q	Ν	G	K	٧	V	S	A	G	С	F	L	Ρ	L	S	Е	Q	וב	D	I F	R	(S	F	G	Т	R	н	R	A /	A I	I C	G 1	/ S	

Figure 8. Distance matrix and sequence alignment of CdaA protein sequences from twelve *Treponema* **species.** A) Distance matrix comparing the similarity of protein sequences to each other, scaled from the least distance highlighted in green to the greatest distance highlighted in red. B) Sequence alignment at the start of the protein sequences, with highlighted residues representing 90% conservation across sequences. C) Sequence alignment around the diadenylate cyclase domain, with a red box depicting the start and end of the domain.



Figure 9. Twelve Td strains analyzed by PCR for the presence of the ORF for

CdaA in their genome. The lanes represent: (1) 1 kb DNA ladder (NEB) (2) strain SP46 (3) strain SP54 (4) strain SP60 (5) strain SP61 (6) strain SP64 (7) strain SP72 (8) strain 35404 (9) strain SP50 (10) strain SP55 (11) strain 35405 (Type strain) (12) pET-Duet-1 plasmid cloned with CdaA ORF as positive control (13) empty pET-Duet-1 plasmid as negative control (14) 1 kb DNA ladder (NEB). 2-8 represent PCR of gDNA samples, and 9-11 represent PCR of whole cell lysates from broth cultures.

Chapter 4: Conclusions and Future Directions

4.1 Discussion

4.1.1 *Treponema denticola* synthesizes c-di-AMP, raising questions about its role

Many oral bacteria are particularly fastidious, including the oral spirochetes like *Treponema denticola*⁸, and difficult to cultivate, genetically manipulate, or test in a variety of models. This does not discount the importance of such organisms; *Td* can represent up to 40% of the bacterial population in diseased pockets of the gums⁸, and not by being a commensal member of the microbiome, either. The relationships between *Td* and the host as well as other microbes in the microbiome are worth investigating so that the role it plays in the pathogenesis of periodontitis can be elucidated, giving rise to more effective therapies and treatments that result in real, long-lasting benefits to those with oral disease. This requires understanding, at a fundamental level, the processes by which *Td* responds to its local environment and how it lives and grows during establishment of disease.

This research has demonstrated the existence in *Td* of a molecule, c-di-AMP, which is the basis of essential and far-reaching regulation of gene expression in a wide range of other bacteria, including Gram-positive species like *B. subtilis*⁸³, and which has evidence suggesting its essentiality in Gram-negative species like *B. burgdorferi*⁷⁶. It has gone further and identified an enzyme encoded by *Td* which is capable of synthesizing c-di-AMP *in vitro*, as well as noting the existence of a homologous gene in several strains of *Td* and other species of *Treponema* entirely. The existence of c-di-AMP in *Td* is of interest as it suggests the existence of an entire regulatory system

based around the use and monitoring of c-di-AMP in the cell to exist within the bacterium, one which in other bacteria has been shown to have far-ranging effects on the ability of the cells to survive and grow and whose receptor molecules serve crucial functions for the cell, including DNA repair, potassium transport, biofilm formation, cell wall biosynthesis, and carbon cycle metabolism⁵². Especially important in the context of Td as an oral bacterium is the fact that c-di-AMP is described as regulating biofilm formation, as in many ways the story of oral disease pathogenesis is the story of biofilm formation²⁸. As a positive regulator of biofilm synthesis by way of affecting a major glucan-producing enzyme within S. *mutans*, an important oral pathobiont, c-di-AMP may contribute to disease progression at dental caries and the creation of a new equilibrium for the oral microbiome which characterizes disease⁶⁰. The ability of *Td* to participate in and contribute to the formation of biofilms in the context of disease is well-documented as it interacts with other pathobionts of periodontal disease¹⁷, and any regulatory network in Td which affects this process is a notable potential target of study to understand the pathogenesis of periodontal disease as it relates to the interaction between the microbiome and the host.

Additionally, it is important to note the context of c-di-AMP as it relates to the ability of other pathogenic bacteria to cause disease. Work with *L. monocytogenes, C. trachomatis,* and Group B Staphylococcus has revealed several important effects on both bacteria and host cells during infection^{49,77,78}. The regulation by c-di-AMP of factors within *L. monocytogenes* has a number of important effects; for instance, deletion of the diadenylate cyclase responsible for c-di-AMP synthesis or overexpression of the c-di-AMP phosphodiesterase responsible for its degradation resulting in impaired growth of

L. monocytogenes both *in vitro* and within macrophages, showing its importance for successful replication in the context of infection⁴⁸. Additionally, it appears to regulate cell wall homeostasis, a fundamental process for all bacteria, and deletion of c-di-AMP synthesis was found to increase sensitivity of *L. monocytogenes* to cell wall-interfering antibiotics, important for consideration due to the unique profile of susceptibility to antibiotics that *Td* shows and the high variation between strains of its sensitivity to a given antibiotic²⁰, where specific treatment of *Td* by adjunctive antibiotic therapy might be enhanced in the context of inhibition of c-di-AMP regulation, improving its sensitivity to β -lactam antibiotics and other disruptors of cell wall homeostasis. The oral pathogen *P. gingivalis* utilizes c-di-AMP to improve its potential for infection⁶², making it crucial to understand whether *Td* can do the same. The ability for c-di-AMP to be detected by host cells as a PAMP is also highly interesting in the context of *Td*, as periodontitis is characterized by dysregulated inflammation and c-di-AMP has been shown to activate immune genes in eukaryotic host cells⁷⁷.

4.1.2 The *Td* protein CdaA is capable of synthesizing c-di-AMP in multiple models

The evidence presented that CdaA is a diadenylate cyclase protein capable of synthesizing c-di-AMP both in buffer after being supplied with ATP and in bacterial cells expressing the ORF encoded on a plasmid allows for comparisons to other machinery for c-di-AMP metabolism in bacteria and for investigating the circumstances to which *Td* is able to respond using a c-di-AMP-based regulatory network. Diadenylate cyclases belong to multiple classes, each with their own characteristics and structure, and

multiple classes can be present within the same organism, such as in *B. subtilis*, which has enzymes belonging to the DisA, CdaA, and CdaS classes of diadenylate cyclase⁶⁸. While here we have identified a CdaA-class diadenylate cyclase, this opens rather than closes the door to research into the other mechanisms of c-di-AMP synthesis within *Td*. The metal ions which CdaA in *Td* requires as cofactors for DAC activity match the profile of DacA in *L. monocytogenes*, with manganese and cobalt ions being capable of supporting DAC activity and magnesium ions being unable to⁷². This differentiates CdaA in *Td* from other diadenylate cyclases, like those belonging to the DisA class of DACs in *B. subtilis*⁴⁴, which rely on Mg²⁺ as a cofactor for activity.

4.1.3 The interaction between CdaA and CdaR produces varying results

The effects of the *Td* homologs of CdaR on the diadenylate cyclase activity of CdaA are mixed. Adding CdaR to CdaA did not appear to improve the ability of the protein to synthesize c-di-AMP from ATP in buffer as measured by HPLC, but dual expression of CdaR with CdaA in *E. coli* did result in a significant increase in c-di-AMP concentrations overall compared to *E. coli* expressing CdaA alone. In other experiments, the combination of CdaA and CdaR from *B. subtilis* resulted in an apparent 20-fold increase in c-di-AMP concentrations in *E. coli* compared to the expression of CdaA alone⁶⁹, but the homologous CdaR gene in *L. monocytogenes* has an inhibitory effect on DacA activity⁷³. More research is needed to determine what exactly the relationship between CdaA and CdaR in *Td* might be, especially given that the ORF used to synthesize CdaA in this experiment lacks the transmembrane domains through which CdaR regulates DacA function in *L. monocytogenes*⁷³, meaning any

interaction that would occur between the native forms of these proteins *in vivo* may be obscured in this experiment with the loss of these transmembrane domains, although this truncated form of CdaA was similarly expressed in the *E. coli* transformants which still appeared to show positive regulation of CdaA activity by CdaR.

4.1.4 Prevalence of CdaA protein homologs in other species of *Treponema* and other *Td* strains

The distance matrix of *Td* species and PCR verification of CdaA presence in different Td strains both show that this regulatory network may have broader implications for Treponema and for its associated diseases than the data from a single type strain and *in vitro* testing might afford. Oral treponemes like *T. maltophilum*, *T.* lecithinolyticum, and T. vincentii were found to have CdaA ORF sequences with conservation of the diadenylate cyclase domain, as were treponemes that localize to other niches, including the etiologic agent of syphilis, *T. pallidum*, about which little is known with regards to signaling mechanisms, partially due to difficulty in cultivating the bacterium⁸⁴. Its presence in different Td strains speaks to its importance for the bacterium's successful growth and regulation. One shortcoming of the approach used here is that it only confirms the existence of the ORFs within the genome sequences of these bacterial species; if the promoter used to initiate transcription of the gene is mutated in these species so as not to be functional, the resulting protein might not be expressed in the bacterium at all, which would complicate the idea that c-di-AMP metabolism can be suggested in these organisms by the presence of a gene for CdaA within their genome. However, the high degree of conservation at the diadenylate

cyclase motif speaks against this possibility and suggests that diadenylate cyclase activity is beneficial to these organisms.

4.2 Conclusion

c-di-AMP is capable of regulating a variety of functions within bacterial cells and can have profound implications on the ability of bacteria to express virulence factors and establish infection. Understanding the roles of c-di-AMP signaling in bacteria thus allows for understanding the methods by which bacteria cause disease. This research has shown the existence of c-di-AMP in Td and demonstrated the ability of the product of a natively encoded gene, TDE1909 (cdaA), to synthesize c-di-AMP both in buffer and in living cells. This opens the door to understanding the regulatory networks within Td that give rise to its virulence and ability to cause periodontal disease, as potential c-di-AMP binding partners can be identified and characterized, shedding light on the ability of a small oral spirochete to cause debilitating disease. The importance of c-di-AMP to Td and the relevance for future study is further demonstrated by the existence of potential diadenylate cyclase in a wide variety of Td strains and other Treponema species, including pathogens like T. pallidum, the etiologic agent of syphilis. With c-di-AMP's role as an immune adjuvant already being studied for its potential to treat cancer and bacteria-associated cardiovascular disease, this small nucleotide messenger may not just be helpful for understanding Td, but one day may be involved in treating Td infections.

4.3 Future directions

There is more work to be done in both the short and long term on the role c-di-AMP plays in *Td*, ranging from the confirmatory to the exploratory. Using mass spectrometry to determine c-di-AMP content in Td would be a more direct way of confirming its presence and its levels, especially given the fluctuation between strains and between biological replicates observed using the competitive ELISA. Similar techniques could be used to gain insight into the CdaA enzyme itself, even going on to identify the exact active site or conformations it takes with metal ions for activity, as Rosenberg *et al.* performed for the DacA of *L. monocytogenes*⁷². Another question raised by the results reported above is the inability of CdaA to completely convert ATP to c-di-AMP in a buffer solution. This may be due to autoinhibition of CdaA by c-di-AMP, where the concentration of c-di-AMP reaches a level where CdaA is no longer able to synthesize more, a potent and common method of regulation to prevent excess c-di-AMP synthesis which is seen in the Td diguanylate cyclase TDE0125⁸⁵. Investigating this question further may take the form of an ELISA where wells seeded with CdaA are checked for their ability to bind biotinylated c-di-AMP by addition of HRP-conjugated streptavidin. Another valuable experiment to perform may be to analyze the supernatant from Td cultures for c-di-AMP to determine if Td secretes c-di-AMP by MS or ELISA, with potential relevance for infection in that c-di-AMP is able to induce host immune responses and act as a microbial-associated molecular pattern when secreted by L. monocytogenes⁷⁷ Identifying c-di-AMP binding proteins in Td would give a diverse set of pathways to study in the future, as in Blötz et al., 2017⁷⁰.

Literature Cited

- 1 Chan EC, McLaughlin R. Taxonomy and virulence of oral spirochetes. *Oral Microbiol Immunol*. 2000;15(1):1-9.
- 2 Klitorinos A, Noble P, Siboo R, Chan EC. Viscosity-dependent locomotion of oral spirochetes. *Oral Microbiol Immunol*. 1993;8(4):242-244.
- 3 Lux R, Miller JN, Park NH, Shi W. Motility and chemotaxis in tissue penetration of oral epithelial cell layers by Treponema denticola. *Infect Immun*. 2001;69(10):6276-6283.
- 4 Ramadass P, Jarvis BD, Corner RJ, Penny D, Marshall RB. Genetic characterization of pathogenic Leptospira species by DNA hybridization. *Int J Syst Bacteriol*. 1992;42(2):215-219.
- 5 Adeolu M, Gupta RS. A phylogenomic and molecular marker based proposal for the division of the genus Borrelia into two genera: the emended genus Borrelia containing only the members of the relapsing fever Borrelia, and the genus Borreliella gen. nov. containing the members of the Lyme disease Borrelia (Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato complex). *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*. 2014;105(6):1049-1072.
- 6 Radolf JD, Deka RK, Anand A, Šmajs D, Norgard MV, Yang XF. Treponema pallidum, the syphilis spirochete: making a living as a stealth pathogen. *Nat Rev Microbiol*. 2016;14(12):744-759.
- 7 Paster BJ, Dewhirst FE, Weisburg WG, et al. Phylogenetic analysis of the spirochetes. *J Bacteriol*. 1991;173(19):6101-6109.
- 8 Ellen RP, Galimanas VB. Spirochetes at the forefront of periodontal infections. *Periodontol 2000*. 2005;38:13-32.
- 9 Siqueira JF Jr, Rôças IN. PCR-based identification of Treponema maltophilum, T amylovorum, T medium, and T lecithinolyticum in primary root canal infections. *Arch Oral Biol*. 2003;48(7):495-502.
- 10 Sela MN. Role of Treponema denticola in periodontal diseases. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med*. 2001;12(5):399-413.
- 11 Frederick JR, Sarkar J, McDowell JV, Marconi RT. Molecular signaling mechanisms of the periopathogen, Treponema denticola. *J Dent Res.* 2011;90(10):1155-1163.
- 12 Socransky SS, Listgarten M, Hubersak C, Cotmore J, Clark A. Morphological and biochemical differentiation of three types of small oral spirochetes. *J Bacteriol*. 1969;98(3):878-882.
- 13 Seshadri R, Myers GS, Tettelin H, et al. Comparison of the genome of the oral pathogen Treponema denticola with other spirochete genomes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2004;101(15):5646-5651.
- 14 Kurniyati K, Li C. Genetic Manipulations of Oral Spirochete Treponema denticola. *Methods Mol Biol.* 2021;2210:15-23.
- 15 Rosen G, Genzler T, Sela MN. Coaggregation of Treponema denticola with Porphyromonas gingivalis and Fusobacterium nucleatum is mediated by the major outer sheath protein of Treponema denticola. *FEMS Microbiol Lett.* 2008;289(1):59-66.
- 16 Colombo AV, da Silva CM, Haffajee A, Colombo AP. Identification of intracellular oral species within human crevicular epithelial cells from subjects with chronic

periodontitis by fluorescence in situ hybridization. *J Periodontal Res*. 2007;42(3):236-243.

- 17 Zhu Y, Dashper SG, Chen YY, Crawford S, Slakeski N, Reynolds EC. Porphyromonas gingivalis and Treponema denticola synergistic polymicrobial biofilm development. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(8):e71727.
- 18 Dashper SG, Seers CA, Tan KH, Reynolds EC. Virulence factors of the oral spirochete Treponema denticola. J Dent Res. 2011 Jun;90(6):691-703.
- 19 Nussbaum G, Ben-Adi S, Genzler T, Sela M, Rosen G. Involvement of Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in the innate immune response to Treponema denticola and its outer sheath components. *Infect Immun*. 2009;77(9):3939-3947.
- 20 Okamoto-Shibayama K, Sekino J, Yoshikawa K, Saito A, Ishihara K. Antimicrobial susceptibility profiles of oral Treponema species. *Anaerobe*. 2017;48:242-248.
- 21 Kassebaum NJ, Bernabé E, Dahiya M, Bhandari B, Murray CJ, Marcenes W. Global burden of severe periodontitis in 1990-2010: a systematic review and meta-regression. *J Dent Res.* 2014;93(11):1045-1053.
- 22 Eke PI, Thornton-Evans GO, Wei L, Borgnakke WS, Dye BA, Genco RJ. Periodontitis in US Adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2009-2014. *J Am Dent Assoc*. 2018;149(7):576-588.e6.
- 23 Armitage GC. Periodontal diagnoses and classification of periodontal diseases. *Periodontol 2000*. 2004;34:9-21.
- 24 Baker PJ, Dixon M, Evans RT, Dufour L, Johnson E, Roopenian DC. CD4(+) T cells and the proinflammatory cytokines gamma interferon and interleukin-6 contribute to alveolar bone loss in mice. *Infect Immun*. 1999;67(6):2804-2809.
- 25 Graves DT, Delima AJ, Assuma R, Amar S, Oates T, Cochran D. Interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor antagonists inhibit the progression of inflammatory cell infiltration toward alveolar bone in experimental periodontitis. *J Periodontol*. 1998;69(12):1419-1425.
- 26 Delima AJ, Oates T, Assuma R, et al. Soluble antagonists to interleukin-1 (IL-1) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) inhibits loss of tissue attachment in experimental periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol*. 2001;28(3):233-240.
- 27 Darveau RP. Periodontitis: a polymicrobial disruption of host homeostasis. *Nat Rev Microbiol*. 2010;8(7):481-490.
- 28 Lamont RJ, Koo H, Hajishengallis G. The oral microbiota: dynamic communities and host interactions. *Nat Rev Microbiol*. 2018;16(12):745-759.
- 29 Socransky SS, Haffajee AD, Cugini MA, Smith C, Kent RL Jr. Microbial complexes in subgingival plaque. *J Clin Periodontol*. 1998;25(2):134-144.
- 30 Hajishengallis G, Liang S, Payne MA, et al. Low-abundance biofilm species orchestrates inflammatory periodontal disease through the commensal microbiota and complement. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2011;10(5):497-506.
- 31 Hajishengallis G, Lamont RJ. Beyond the red complex and into more complexity: the polymicrobial synergy and dysbiosis (PSD) model of periodontal disease etiology. *Mol Oral Microbiol*. 2012;27(6):409-419.
- 32 Tonetti MS, Van Dyke TE; Working group 1 of the joint EFP/AAP workshop. Periodontitis and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: consensus report of the Joint EFP/AAP Workshop on Periodontitis and Systemic Diseases. *J Clin Periodontol*. 2013;40 Suppl 14:S24-S29.

- 33 Sharma P, Dietrich T, Ferro CJ, Cockwell P, Chapple IL. Association between periodontitis and mortality in stages 3-5 chronic kidney disease: NHANES III and linked mortality study. *J Clin Periodontol*. 2016;43(2):104-113.
- 34 Chapple IL, Genco R; Working group 2 of joint EFP/AAP workshop. Diabetes and periodontal diseases: consensus report of the Joint EFP/AAP Workshop on Periodontitis and Systemic Diseases. *J Clin Periodontol*. 2013;40 Suppl 14:S106-S112.
- 35 Fitzsimonds ZR, Rodriguez-Hernandez CJ, Bagaitkar J, Lamont RJ. From Beyond the Pale to the Pale Riders: The Emerging Association of Bacteria with Oral Cancer. *J Dent Res.* 2020;99(6):604-612.
- 36 Chukkapalli SS, Velsko IM, Rivera-Kweh MF, Zheng D, Lucas AR, Kesavalu L. Polymicrobial Oral Infection with Four Periodontal Bacteria Orchestrates a Distinct Inflammatory Response and Atherosclerosis in ApoE null Mice. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(11):e0143291.
- 37 Koppolu P, Durvasula S, Palaparthy R, et al. Estimate of CRP and TNF-alpha level before and after periodontal therapy in cardiovascular disease patients. *Pan Afr Med J*. 2013;15:92.
- 38 American Academy of Periodontology Task Force Report on the Update to the 1999 Classification of Periodontal Diseases and Conditions. *J Periodontol*. 2015;86(7):835-838.
- 39 Tomita S, Kasai S, Ihara Y, et al. Effects of systemic administration of sitafloxacin on subgingival microflora and antimicrobial susceptibility profile in acute periodontal lesions. *Microb Pathog*. 2014;71-72:1-7.
- 40 Rifkin BR, Vernillo AT, Golub LM. Blocking Periodontal Disease Progression by Inhibiting Tissue-Destructive Enzymes: A Potential Therapeutic Role for Tetracyclines and Their Chemically-Modified Analogs. *J Periodontol*. 1993;64 Suppl 8S:819-827.
- 41 Balata ML, Andrade LP, Santos DB, et al. Photodynamic therapy associated with full-mouth ultrasonic debridement in the treatment of severe chronic periodontitis: a randomized-controlled clinical trial. *J Appl Oral Sci*. 2013;21(2):208-214.
- 42 Rocha FG, Berges A, Sedra A, et al. A *Porphyromonas gingivalis* Capsule-Conjugate Vaccine Protects from Experimental Oral Bone Loss. *Front Oral Health*. 2021;2:686402.
- 43 O'Bier NS, Patel DT, Oliver LD Jr, Miller DP, Marconi RT. Development of an FhbB based chimeric vaccinogen that elicits antibodies that block Factor H binding and cleavage by the periopathogen Treponema denticola. *Mol Oral Microbiol*. 2021;36(1):50-57.
- 44 Witte G, Hartung S, Büttner K, Hopfner KP. Structural biochemistry of a bacterial checkpoint protein reveals diadenylate cyclase activity regulated by DNA recombination intermediates. *Mol Cell*. 2008;30(2):167-178.
- 45 Ross P, Weinhouse H, Aloni Y, et al. Regulation of cellulose synthesis in Acetobacter xylinum by cyclic diguanylic acid. *Nature*. 1987;325(6101):279-281.
- 46 Corrigan RM, Abbott JC, Burhenne H, Kaever V, Gründling A. c-di-AMP is a new second messenger in Staphylococcus aureus with a role in controlling cell size and envelope stress. *PLoS Pathog*. 2011;7(9):e1002217.

- 47 Corrigan RM, Campeotto I, Jeganathan T, Roelofs KG, Lee VT, Gründling A. Systematic identification of conserved bacterial c-di-AMP receptor proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2013;110(22):9084-9089.
- 48 Witte CE, Whiteley AT, Burke TP, Sauer JD, Portnoy DA, Woodward JJ. Cyclic di-AMP is critical for Listeria monocytogenes growth, cell wall homeostasis, and establishment of infection. *mBio*. 2013;4(3):e00282-13.
- 49 Barker JR, Koestler BJ, Carpenter VK, et al. STING-dependent recognition of cyclic di-AMP mediates type I interferon responses during Chlamydia trachomatis infection. *mBio*. 2013;4(3):e00018-e13. Published 2013 Apr 30.
- 50 Kellenberger CA, Chen C, Whiteley AT, Portnoy DA, Hammond MC. RNA-Based Fluorescent Biosensors for Live Cell Imaging of Second Messenger Cyclic di-AMP. *J Am Chem Soc*. 2015;137(20):6432-6435.
- 51 Yin W, Cai X, Ma H, et al. A decade of research on the second messenger c-di-AMP. *FEMS Microbiol Rev.* 2020;44(6):701-724.
- 52 Fahmi T, Port GC, Cho KH. c-di-AMP: An Essential Molecule in the Signaling Pathways that Regulate the Viability and Virulence of Gram-Positive Bacteria. *Genes (Basel)*. 2017;8(8):197.
- 53 Gundlach J, Mehne FM, Herzberg C, et al. An Essential Poison: Synthesis and Degradation of Cyclic Di-AMP in Bacillus subtilis. *J Bacteriol*. 2015;197(20):3265-3274.
- 54 Opoku-Temeng C, Zhou J, Zheng Y, Su J, Sintim HO. Cyclic dinucleotide (c-di-GMP, c-di-AMP, and cGAMP) signalings have come of age to be inhibited by small molecules. *Chem Commun (Camb)*. 2016;52(60):9327-9342.
- 55 Gándara C, Alonso JC. DisA and c-di-AMP act at the intersection between DNAdamage response and stress homeostasis in exponentially growing Bacillus subtilis cells. *DNA Repair (Amst)*. 2015;27:1-8.
- 56 Bai Y, Yang J, Zarrella TM, Zhang Y, Metzger DW, Bai G. Cyclic di-AMP impairs potassium uptake mediated by a cyclic di-AMP binding protein in Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J Bacteriol*. 2014;196(3):614-623.
- 57 Gibhardt J, Hoffmann G, Turdiev A, Wang M, Lee VT, Commichau FM. c-di-AMP assists osmoadaptation by regulating the *Listeria monocytogenes* potassium transporters KimA and KtrCD. *J Biol Chem*. 2019;294(44):16020-16033.
- 58 Wang X, Cai X, Ma H, et al. A c-di-AMP riboswitch controlling *kdpFABC* operon transcription regulates the potassium transporter system in *Bacillus thuringiensis* [published correction appears in Commun Biol. 2019 May 9;2:182]. *Commun Biol.* 2019;2:151.
- 59 Cheng X, Zheng X, Zhou X, et al. Regulation of oxidative response and extracellular polysaccharide synthesis by a diadenylate cyclase in Streptococcus mutans. *Environ Microbiol*. 2016;18(3):904-922.
- 60 Peng X, Zhang Y, Bai G, Zhou X, Wu H. Cyclic di-AMP mediates biofilm formation. *Mol Microbiol.* 2016;99(5):945-959.
- 61 Peng X, Michalek S, Wu H. Effects of diadenylate cyclase deficiency on synthesis of extracellular polysaccharide matrix of Streptococcus mutans revisit. *Environ Microbiol*. 2016;18(11):3612-3619.

- 62 Moradali MF, Ghods S, Bähre H, Lamont RJ, Scott DA, Seifert R. Atypical cyclic di-AMP signaling is essential for Porphyromonas gingivalis growth and regulation of cell envelope homeostasis and virulence. *NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes*. 2022;8(1):53.
- 63 Luo Y, Helmann JD. Analysis of the role of Bacillus subtilis $\sigma(M)$ in β-lactam resistance reveals an essential role for c-di-AMP in peptidoglycan homeostasis. *Mol Microbiol*. 2012;83(3):623-639.
- 64 Sureka K, Choi PH, Precit M, et al. The cyclic dinucleotide c-di-AMP is an allosteric regulator of metabolic enzyme function. *Cell*. 2014;158(6):1389-1401.
- 65 Block KF, Hammond MC, Breaker RR. Evidence for widespread gene control function by the ydaO riboswitch candidate. *J Bacteriol*. 2010;192(15):3983-3989.
- 66 Nelson JW, Sudarsan N, Furukawa K, Weinberg Z, Wang JX, Breaker RR. Riboswitches in eubacteria sense the second messenger c-di-AMP. *Nat Chem Biol*. 2013;9(12):834-839.
- 67 Gao A, Serganov A. Structural insights into recognition of c-di-AMP by the ydaO riboswitch. *Nat Chem Biol*. 2014;10(9):787-792.
- 68 Commichau FM, Heidemann JL, Ficner R, Stülke J. Making and Breaking of an Essential Poison: the Cyclases and Phosphodiesterases That Produce and Degrade the Essential Second Messenger Cyclic di-AMP in Bacteria. *J Bacteriol*. 2018;201(1):e00462-18.
- 69 Mehne FM, Gunka K, Eilers H, Herzberg C, Kaever V, Stülke J. Cyclic di-AMP homeostasis in bacillus subtilis: both lack and high level accumulation of the nucleotide are detrimental for cell growth. *J Biol Chem*. 2013;288(3):2004-2017.
- 70 Blötz C, Treffon K, Kaever V, Schwede F, Hammer E, Stülke J. Identification of the Components Involved in Cyclic Di-AMP Signaling in *Mycoplasma pneumoniae*. *Front Microbiol*. 2017;8:1328.
- 71 Corrigan RM, Gründling A. Cyclic di-AMP: another second messenger enters the fray. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* 2013;11(8):513-524.
- 72 Rosenberg J, Dickmanns A, Neumann P, et al. Structural and biochemical analysis of the essential diadenylate cyclase CdaA from Listeria monocytogenes. *J Biol Chem*. 2015;290(10):6596-6606.
- 73 Rismondo J, Gibhardt J, Rosenberg J, Kaever V, Halbedel S, Commichau FM. Phenotypes Associated with the Essential Diadenylate Cyclase CdaA and Its Potential Regulator CdaR in the Human Pathogen Listeria monocytogenes. *J Bacteriol*. 2015;198(3):416-426.
- 74 Mehne FM, Schröder-Tittmann K, Eijlander RT, et al. Control of the diadenylate cyclase CdaS in Bacillus subtilis: an autoinhibitory domain limits cyclic di-AMP production. *J Biol Chem*. 2014;289(30):21098-21107.
- 75 Tosi T, Hoshiga F, Millership C, et al. Inhibition of the Staphylococcus aureus c-di-AMP cyclase DacA by direct interaction with the phosphoglucosamine mutase GlmM. *PLoS Pathog*. 2019;15(1):e1007537.
- 76 Ye M, Zhang JJ, Fang X, et al. DhhP, a cyclic di-AMP phosphodiesterase of Borrelia burgdorferi, is essential for cell growth and virulence. *Infect Immun*. 2014;82(5):1840-1849.
- 77 Woodward JJ, Iavarone AT, Portnoy DA. c-di-AMP secreted by intracellular Listeria monocytogenes activates a host type I interferon response. *Science*. 2010;328(5986):1703-1705.

- 78 Andrade WA, Firon A, Schmidt T, et al. Group B Streptococcus Degrades Cyclic-di-AMP to Modulate STING-Dependent Type I Interferon Production. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2016;20(1):49-59.
- 79 Singh AK, Praharaj M, Lombardo KA, et al. Re-engineered BCG overexpressing cyclic di-AMP augments trained immunity and exhibits improved efficacy against bladder cancer. *Nat Commun*. 2022;13(1):878.
- 80 Wu Q, Li Z, Zhang Y, et al. Cyclic di-AMP Rescues *Porphyromonas gingivalis*-Aggravated Atherosclerosis [published online ahead of print, 2023 Apr 8]. *J Dent Res*. 2023;220345231162344.
- 81 Miller DP, McDowell JV, Rhodes DV, et al. Sequence divergence in the Treponema denticola FhbB protein and its impact on factor H binding. *Mol Oral Microbiol*. 2013;28(4):316-330.
- 82 Izac JR, Camire AC, Earnhart CG, et al. Analysis of the antigenic determinants of the OspC protein of the Lyme disease spirochetes: Evidence that the C10 motif is not immunodominant or required to elicit bactericidal antibody responses. *Vaccine*. 2019;37(17):2401-2407.
- 83 Römling U. Great times for small molecules: c-di-AMP, a second messenger candidate in Bacteria and Archaea. *Sci Signal*. 2008;1(33):pe39.
- 84 Galperin MY. What bacteria want. *Environ Microbiol*. 2018;20(12):4221-4229.
- 85 Patel DT, O'Bier NS, Schuler EJA, Marconi RT. The Treponema denticola DgcA protein (TDE0125) is a functional diguanylate cyclase. *Pathog Dis*. 2021;79(3):ftab004.